FILED

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

:

SID J. WHITE

SEP 11 1996

EDDIE LEE SEXTON, : Appellant, : vs. STATE OF FLORIDA, : Appellee. :

CLERK, SUPPREME COURT werk Gerk

Case No. 86,132

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

ANDREA NORGARD Assistant Public Defender FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 661066

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831 (941) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

TOPICAL

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant, EDDIE LEE SEXTON, was the Defendant in the trial court and will be referred to in this brief as Appellant or by name. The witnesses and victim will be referred to by name. The Appellee, the State of Florida, was the prosecuting authority below and will be referred to as the State. The original record on appeal consists of 32 volumes and two supplemental volumes, one of which contains a video cassette tape. In the brief, the record will be referred to as "R", and the tape by its name.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant, EDDIE LEE SEXTON, was indicted for the murder of Joel Good by the Grand Jury of Hillsborough County on February 16, 1994. (CR 34-35) The Indictment alleged that Mr. Good was killed between November 17, 1993 and January 14, 1994. Willie Sexton, Appellant's son, was also named in the indictment as a codefendant. (CR34-36)

Conflict counsel was appointed and a second attorney for penalty phase was appointed as well. (CR37-39,54-55,78-80)

Numerous pretrial motions were filed by Appellant. These included motions to Relinquish Jurisdiction to the Allegheny Tribal Counsel (CR61-64); to sever his case from the codefendant's (CR65-69); and to compel blood samples. (CR70-71) Standard motions attacking the constitutionality of the death penalty were filed. (CR88-91,111, 113,119-120,276-296,335-345) Counsel filed several specific motions relating to the venire and jury selection. Among these was a motion for the appointment of an expert to assist in jury selection. (CR135-139) Counsel also moved to sequester the jury, for individual voir dire, and a request to prevent jury contamination. (CR224-226,233-243)

Sexton sought to limit the access of the media to information about this case. Initially, emergency motions for gag orders were requested.(CR52-53,56-59) Counsel also sought to prevent the media from photographing or televising members of the venire or from releasing the names, addresses, or businesses of the jurors. (CR201-208)

Motions were also filed which pertained specifically to the penalty phase of the trial. Counsel attacked the constitutionality of the Standard Jury Instruction regarding the aggravating circumstance of Heinous, Atrocious and Cruel. (CR99-110) Numerous motions attacked the constitutionality of the penalty phase proceedings. (CR270-301,331-334,335-345)

The State moved to require Sexton to provide reciprocal discovery to matters pertinent to penalty **phase**. (CR131-134) Following the court's ruling, the record indicates that Sexton filed a writ of Habeas Corpus in the Second District Court of Appeal on September 16, 1994. (CR493-509) The Second District has no record of receiving **a** Petition. (SR28)

The State filed notice of their intent to admit prior statements and prior bad acts of Sexton. These included a video tape made by Sexton months before the alleged offense, instances of sexual abuse and incest, the murder of Sexton's grandson, acts of child abuse, and Satanism, (CR351-366) Sexton filed numerous Motions in Limine seeking to exclude any evidence relating to collateral matters, incidentsandcrimes. (CR85-87,215-223,258-259, 262-263,302-303)

Sexton was tried by jury from October 3 through October 6, 1994. (R329-1803) The Honorable Bob Mitcham, Circuit Judge, presided over the trial. The jury returned a verdict of Guilty as charged on October 6, 1994.(CR413) Penalty phase was conducted on October 7, 1994.(R1825-1963) The jury returned an advisory recom-

mendation for the death penalty by a vote of 7 to 5 on October 7, 1994. (CR444)

Sexton filed motions requesting a new trial or a JNOV on October 17, 1994. (CR448-452) These were denied following a hearing on November 2, 1994. (R1990) At this same hearing, following argument from both the State and Defense, the Court sentenced Sexton to death. (CR458-468, R2032) Written findings in support of the sentence were filed on November 2, 1994. The court found four aggravating circumstances: that Appellant was previously convicted of a prior violent felony; that the capital felony was committed to avoid or prevent a lawful arrest; that the murder was cold, calculated and premeditated; and that the murder was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel. (CR465-468) The court found in mitigation that Sexton was under emotional stress; at times acted in a peculiar fashion; demonstrated some human qualities; acted as Santa Claus; and some non-statutory mitigating factors contained in letters from family members. (CR466-468) The court found that the aggravating factors outweighed the mitigating factors. (CR468)

A timely Notice of Appeal was filed on November 8, 1994. (CR473-474)

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Pretrial Hearings

On April 22, 1994, defense counsel sought to keep a video tape from the press. (R2038-2039 The tape was one which Sexton had produced several months before the murder allegedly occurred. (R2038) Counsel requested the court view the tape, determine it's relevancy, and then prevent the tape from being disseminated through the media if the court found the tape to have no relevance. (R2044-2046) The court denied the motion. (R2054)

Sexton claimed that he was a Native American and a member of the Allegheny tribal counsel. At a hearing on June 28, 1994 Sexton requested that jurisdiction be relinquished from the State Courts to the Tribal council. (R61-62) The State objected, disputing that Sexton was a Native American, that the Tribal counsel did not exist, and that there was no immunity from prosecution. (R65-67) The State presented the testimony from Sheritan Murphy, who is affiliated with the American Indian Movement. Through this association, Mr. Murphy was familiar with the Indian Nations that inhabit North America. The East Alleghenian nation which Sexton claimed membership in did not exist. (R68-70) The court denied the motion.

At this same hearing Sexton moved to sever his case from that of his son's, the codefendant. (R74) The motion was joined by counsel for the codefendant. (R75) The State did not oppose the motion and it was granted by the court. (R76-78)

Sexton moved that the jury be required to state on the verdict form used during the penalty phase which aggravating factors they found. (R124) The court denied that request and several others relating to the penalty phase. (R124,132-142) The court specifically denied counsel's request to declare the standard instruction on HAC unconstitutional. (R131-132)

On September 21, 1994, the court found Willie Sexton, the codefendant, incompetent to stand trial. (R2061-2070)

Motions in Limine and for Experts

On September 21, 1994 the court considered defense counsel's request that he have the assistance of an expert during jury selection. (R2076) Counsel requested a jury consultant due to the sensitive nature of many of the bad acts the State intended to bring out during the trial and because of the extensive pre-trial publicity. (R2080-2081) Counsel noted that the County Commissioner's policy was that it would not pay for experts which did not testify. (R2084) The Public Defender's Office had paid for the retention of jury consultants out of their budgets in some cases. (R2085-2086) The County opposed the hiring of the expert. (R2090-2092) The court denied the motion. (R2092)

Counsel then requested an in-camera hearing on the Motions in Limine which dealt with collateral crimes on the part of Sexton. (R2100) The specific evidentiary issues were presented by the State to the court in a 15 page written memorandum. (CR351-366,

R2103) The court granted the request for an in-camera hearing. (R2107)

The court granted counsel's request that the media not televise or photograph the venire or publicize their names, addresses, or place of business. (R2109)

A motion was also made concerning photographs of the body. (R2117) The court limited the State to two photographs of the decomposed body. (R2124-2125)

On September 23, 1994, the court conducted an in-camera hearing on the Motions in Limine. (R2130-2220) The closed hearing was opposed by the press. (R2133-2192) The court denied the media's request to be present during the hearing. (R2192)

Defense counsel's first request in the written **motion** in limine was that the State would not be able to bring evidence into the trial relating to incest between Sexton and his daughters. (CR218) Defense counsel pointed out the difficulties relating to such evidence, especially how far back in time the State should be allowed to go. (R2199) Defense counsel objected that the collateral bad acts were going to become a feature of the trial. (R2204)

Defense counsel moved to exclude any evidence relating to the death of Skipper Good, Sexton's grandson, who was killed by his mother, Pixie. (CR218-219,258-259;R2204) Pixie is Sexton's daughter.

The court chose not to determine the relevancy of the collateral offenses pretrial, and declined to rule as to the extent to which the State would be permitted to present evidence to the jury

in these areas. The court stated that it would deal with objections during the trial as they arose. (R2207-2212) The court stated that he generally would let these matters be heard. (R2212) The court then ruled that the subject matter contained in the written motions, memorandums, and responses would be released to the press. (R2213-2214)

Trial

Sexton's trial began on September 26, 1994, with the Honorable Bob Mitcham, Circuit Judge, presiding. Voir Dire commenced on the 26th and a jury was empaneled on September 29, 1994. (R329-926) Testimony began on October 3, 1994 and is summarized as follows:

Yale Hubbard is a ranger with the Little Manatee River State Recreation Area. (R961) Little Manatee River State Park contains a campground which was open in November and December of 1993 and January of 1994. (R962) Mr. Hubbard's duties included the registering of campers in the campground and collecting fees for the campsites. (R963) The Sexton family began to rent a campsite on November 16, 1993. (R964) Pixie Sexton registered the family. They remained in the campground until mid-January when the mother and father were arrested. (R964)

There is only one road which leads to the campsites. (R965) The distance between the campground and the ranger station is roughly 2 miles. (R965) The Sextons were camping in a motor home on site number 16. (R966) A public pay phone was 100 yards away. (R973) Hubbard checked on the campsites daily, however the Sexton

motorhome was parked in such a fashion as to prevent him from seeing the tags. (R968) This was not a normal way to park in the sites. (R969)

On his routine checks Hubbard would see various members of the Sexton family. They did not always stay as a group. (R970-971) Hubbard would have casual conversation with them, including Willie Sexton. (R971) Willie and Pixie were the friendliest of the children. Pixie would come to pay the rent, first with her husband and then with Willie. (R971)

During the time the Sexton's were at the campground a disabled man by the name of Raymond Hesser was camping next to them in a recreational vehicle. (R982)

Estella "Pixie" Sexton Good testified that she is the daughter of Eddie Lee Sexton and sister to Willie Sexton. (R989) She was 24 at the time of trial. (R988) She is the third of 12 children. (R989) On February 12, 1992, Pixie married Joel Good in Massalin, Ohio. (R997) Sexton performed the ceremony. (R998)

Pixie claimed that she loved her husband and had a good marriage. (R1227) She did admit to once asking him for **a** divorce. (1228) A letter she had written to Joel was admitted during **CrOSS**-examination where she told Joel that what she wanted for Christmas was for him to leave. (R1231) Pixie denied ever abusing Joel or of ever accusing him of molesting her daughters. (R1233-1237) Pixie claimed that Joel and Sexton did not get along. (R1237)

Pixie stated that her brother Willie murdered her husband, Joel Good, about a month after they began living at the Little Manatee

River State Park. (R998) According to Pixie, Sexton had Willie do this. (R998)

Fourteen of the family were staying at the campground. This included Sexton and his wife; Pixie's brothers- Willie, Skipper, Christopher, and Matthew; her sisters- Sherry and Kim; Sherry's baby; Pixie's two daughters; and Joel Good. (R1001)

According to Pixie, on the morning of the murder the family ate breakfast together. (R1001) After breakfast Pixie saw her father and Willie leave the camp site together. They returned a half an hour later or so. (R1002) Sexton then left the camp with his wife and the younger children for a picnic. (R1002-1004) Sherry, Pixie, the babies, Joel, and Willie stayed behind. (R1004)

About a half hour after Sexton left, Willie and Joel left. After awhile, Pixie went to look for them. (R1005) Pixie went off down a path that led to the woods and found Willie and Joel smoking by a fallen tree. (R1007) Pixie smoked with them, then went back to the camper. (R1008) A little later Sherry said she heard Joel yelling "Ed". (R1008) Sherry and Pixie went down the trail and found Willie and Joel further in the woods. (R1009) Willie had Joel on the ground and was choking him with a rope that was tied around his neck. (R1009) Joel was yelling for Ed. (R1009) Willie saw Pixie and told her to go back to the camper. (R1010) Pixie went back and found that her father and the others had returned from the picnic. (R1010) Pixie told her father that she thought Willie was hurting Joel and Sexton asked her to take him there. (R1010)

Pixie and Sexton went into the woods. (R1010) They ran to where Willie and Joel were. (R1010) They found Joel laying over Willie's lap, the rope around his neck. (R1011) Sexton got up to Joel's face, then kicked his leg. (R1011) Joel's leg moved. (R1011) Pixie believed Joel was alive. (R1012) Sexton told Willie to "finish him off". (R1012) Sexton told Pixie to return to the camper. (R1012)

Pixie denied on cross that she coaxed Joel into the woods so Willie could strangle him. (R1248) Pixie admitted she never tried to get Willie to stop nor did Joel call to her for help. (R1248-1251) Pixie denied telling her brother Skipper on the morning that Joel was killed that she wished he was dead. (R1252) She further denied telling Skipper later that she was glad it was done and to bury the body deep. (R1252) She denied bragging to her sister Sherry that she had cut Joel's wrist. (R1252)

Sexton returned to the camper and told Pixie if she had anything to say about what happened, she'd be next. (R1012) Sexton then told Pixie and Skipper to go buy a shovel to bury the body with. (R1013)

Pixie and Skipper went to Wal-Mart, bought a shovel, and returned to the camp. (R1013) Sexton told everyone to collect Joel's clothes and to get rid of them. (R1014) One of the boys discarded them. (R1014) Sexton took the shovel back to where Willie was and did not return until after dark. (R1015)

Sexton came into the camper where everyone was watching T.V. (R1017) He told them that Joel was supposed to have run off.

(R1017) Pixie claimed that later that night she heard Sexton tell his wife that he "had Willie do it." (R1017) Pixie was about six steps away from them when she heard this. (R1018)

Pixie claimed that she heard her father say Joel had to be gotten rid of on two other occasions. (R1018) Once was on a trip to Ohio with Willie. Defense counsel objected, claiming that this claim had not been made before by Pixie and it had not been provided in discovery. (R1022) The State claimed her statements were a surprise to them. (R1021) The court found no willful violation of the discovery rules by the State and told defense that they would be permitted wide latitude on cross. (R1023-1024) Defense counsel still requested a mistrial, claiming they would have to reevaluate the entire defense strategy. (R1024-1025) The court denied the motion. (R1025)

Pixie then resumed testifying. She claimed that she accompanied her father on trips to Ohio for the purpose of picking up his check. (R1029) It was on one of these biweekly trips that Sexton said he wanted to get rid of Joel because he had too much on him. (R1030) This statement was allegedly made 2 weeks before the murder. (R1030)

Roughly a week later Pixie heard Sexton repeat the same statement. (R1030-1031) At the time he was sitting at a picnic table with Willie and Skipper. (R1030)

Pixie had lived in Ohio with Joel in her parents' home. (R1031) In 1992 she was aware of problems her father was having with the Department of Human Services in Ohio. (R1031) Sexton left Ohio to

prevent that state from taking the rest of his children from him. (R1032) At that point in time, Sexton had custody of Christopher, Kim, and Skipper. The other children were in foster care. (R1032) Pixie left Ohio because Sexton told her there was a warrant out for her arrest. (R1032) Pixie and Joel went with the rest of the family to Indiana. (R1033)

Over objection Pixie began to describe life in the Sexton home. (R1035-1041) A standing objection to this testimony was granted. (R1042)

Pixie claimed that her father made all the decisions in the household and if the children questioned them or failed to carry out his wishes, they were beaten. (R1034-1035) Prior to age 18 beatings were done with a belt, after age 18, with a fist. (R1035) This method of discipline applied to everyone in the household and continued in Florida. (R1043) Pixie observed her father beat Willie, who was 23, on almost a daily basis in Florida. (R1044)

Another family rule was that the children were not permitted to talk to anyone outside the family about family matters. (R1044) If you did and were caught, you were whipped. (R1044) Each of the school-age children carried a quarter and if you heard anyone talking about family matters, you were supposed to call home and report the incident. (R1044) If you failed to call, you would be whipped also. (R1045)

The children were not allowed to have friends to the house, (R1045)

Sexton made the decision to go on the run. (R1045) Sexton claimed he was wanted by the FBI and that he would have a standoff with them. (R1045) Sexton trained the boys in what to do in case of a stand-off. (R1046) Pixie observed the boys being trained in the Little Manatee State Park. (R1049) He taught the boys how to kill by teaching them to use a gun and telling them when to shoot. (R1046) He also showed them how to strangle by using a rope with handles. (R1047) Sexton told the boys to put the rope around the person's neck and to twist it with the handles. (R1049) Pixie stated this was how she saw Willie strangling Joel. (R1049) Pixie identified Exhibit 18 as an example of such a rope. (R1047)

Sexton also talked of the Ohio Department of Human Services while on the run. (R1048) Sexton claimed that if they tried to take his children, he would kill them. (R1048)

While in Indiana, Pixie gave birth to a boy named Skipper Lee Good on January 17, 1993. (R1050) Shortly thereafter, the family all left for Tampa, Florida. (R1050) An aunt and an uncle lived in Tampa. (R1050) The family was coming to Florida to retrieve Sherry, who had been sent by Sexton to Florida so she could avoid being subjected to a blood test. (R1051)

The family stayed with the relatives for several weeks, then rented a trailer in New Port Richey. (R1051) The family stayed in the trailer several weeks, then returned to their aunt and uncle's. (R1052) They remained there a month, then relocated to the Hillsborough River State Park. (R1052) Sexton made all the decisions on when and where they would all move. (R1053)

While at the Hillsborough River State Park, Skipper (Pixie's baby), became ill. (R1053) Pixie claimed the baby had been ill for three weeks, but that Sexton would not let her take him to the doctor. (R1054) The baby would not quit crying. (R1054) One night when the baby wouldn't stop Pixie was holding him in the back of the camper. (R1054) Sexton told her to get the baby quiet or he would come back there and do it. (R1055) Pixie had already given the baby Tylenol and adult Nyquil. (R1055) She put her hand over his mouth and held it there until he stopped crying. (R1055) Then she laid him on the bed and went to sleep. (R1055-1056) In the morning he was dead. (R1056) Pixie denied that she ever abused the baby. (R1239)

Sexton would not let the baby be taken to a hospital. (R1056) He kept saying that the baby died from crib death. (R1069) He told Pixie to keep the baby in the back of the camper that day. (R1056) Several days later Sexton had Joel and Willie bury the baby. (R1059) After Pixie's arrest the baby was later re-buried in a cemetery.

Joel was distraught after the death of his child. (R1059) He wanted to take Pixie and her daughters and go back to Ohio. (R1059) Over objection Pixie testified that she then told Joel that her father, Sexton, was the father of her two daughters. (R1059-1067) Pixie claimed her father began having sex with her when she was 13. (1208) When Joel confronted Sexton about this, Sexton told him that he (Joel) still had to raise the girls as though they were his. (R1068)

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