## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED SID J. WHITE

DEC 13 1996

EDDIE LEE SEXTON,

Appellant,

CLERK, SUPPEME COURT By\_\_\_\_\_\_ Chief Deputy Clerk

v.

Case No. 86,132

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE THIRTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY

## ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CAROL M. DITTMAR Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0503843 2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700 Tampa, Florida 33607-2366 (813) 873-4739

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE



#

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

Furthermore, the record does not support the appellant's assertion that this evidence became a feature of the trial. The state strongly takes issue with the appellant's description **as** to both the quality and quantity of this evidence. Some of the appellant's facts are inaccurate. For example, the appellant's brief indicates that the appellant fathered two children by Sherry; and fathered four of his own grandchildren altogether (Appellant's Initial Brief, pp. 54, 64). In fact, the record seems clear that Sherry only had one child; there is no indication that the appellant had more than three grandchildren altogether (T. 1001, 1051, 1671). The appellant's unfortunately sparing use of record

cites makes verification of his facts difficult. Another discrepancy is the appellant's reference to "Lawyerg and police officerg" that testified about law violations in Ohio (Appellant's Initial Brief, p. 65). In fact, only one lawyer and one officer so testified<sup>3</sup> (T. 1363, 1416). The testimony of these two witnesses takes up about 17 total pages of transcript; this is less than the state's first witness, Yale Hubbard, a "strictly chain of custody" witness according to the appellant (T. 961-985, 1363-72, 1416-24).

The appellant's brief characterizes Hubbard and three other witnesses as called for 'chain of custody" purposes, and notes a fifth did nothing more than perform the autopsy on Joel (Appellant's Initial Brief, p. 68). These witnesses were not as incidental as suggested. Yale Hubbard described the camping area where the family was staying, and noted the unusual manner in which the camper was parked so that the license tag could not be seen (T.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Although two police officers from Ohio were called as witnesses by the state, one of these witnesses, Det. Stephen Raady, did not become involved with the Sexton family until December, 1992, after they had already fled from Ohio. Raady did not testify about any particular law violations in Ohio other than noting that warrants had been issued for the appellant's arrest in October, 1993, based on his removing children from the state that had been in the temporary custody of DHS (T. 1427-28). Raady's testimony primarily concerned how law enforcement became aware of the homicides after the appellant and Mrs. Sexton has been arrested (T. 1429-32).

968-69). Baker testified about the difficulties in finding Joel's gravesite, and played a videotape depicting the camper and the area where the body was finally discovered (T. 1436-37, 1444-45). Dr. Herrman's description of the body and the cause and manner of death included the admission of photographs of the deceased, who still had a rope with sections of tree branches attached fully encircling his neck (T. 1460, 1461, 1463). The appellant suggests that none of testimony relating strictly to Joel's death was particularly gruesome, yet defense counsel objected to the crime scene videotape and to some of the photographs as inflammatory (T. 1441, 1460, 1463). The appellant fails to discuss Gail Novack as a witness, librarian that overheard appellant the the tell Willie prophetically that the only way Joel would make it back to Ohio was in a body locker (T. 1516).

The appellant ascribes specific numbers of transcript pages for witnesses as direct or collateral, and concludes that testimony relating to collateral matters "consumed over one half of the **trial"** (Appellant's Initial Brief, **p**. 69). The state disputes the accuracy of this conclusion and challenges the appellant to support it with specific record cites. Although the appellant asserts that the testimony of Charles Sexton "was roughly equal in terms of evidence of the murder and of the collateral crimes," a review of

Charles' testimony reveals less than one page relating to collateral crimes - that being the testimony that the appellant made all of the decisions in the family, and if anyone stepped out of line, they would get their ass beat, as Charles had seen happen to Willie (T. 1610). The appellant claims that 47 pages of Pixie's testimony was collateral in nature, but the state finds less than 30 such pages (T. 1043-60, 1067-74, plus some of 1208-11 and 1254-56); the appellant characterizes 31 pages of Christopher's testimony as collateral, but only about 15 pages referred to prior bad acts by the appellant (T. 1267-72, 1280-90). Apparently, the appellant has included as pages of collateral matters all of the testimony that was elicited by the defense about prior bad acts committed by *Pixie*. Such can hardly be considered to support his argument that evidence relating to his prior bad acts became a feature of the trial.

The state would offer the following summaries of the evidence presented: 282 pages of transcript relating to Joel's death; 108 pages relating to collateral crimes committed by the appellant; 85 pages relating to the nature of the relationship between Pixie and Joel, and prior bad acts committed by Pixie and other siblings; and 48 pages transcribing the videotape created by the appellant, in

1.

1.1

which he denies having committed any prior bad acts with regard to his family.

In terms of witnesses, it is true that three of the state's fourteen witnesses only testified about collateral matters (Judy Genetin, attorney for DHS in Ohio, T. 1363-1372; Michelle Sexton Croto, the appellant's daughter, T. 1373-1404; and Steven Zurbey, Jackson Township [Ohio] Police Captain, T. 1416-1424). None of these witnesses were cumulative; they all had independent, relevant information to present. Michelle discussed her initial report to her school guidance counselor, stating that she thought she was pregnant and the appellant was the father (T. 1385). It was this report that led to DHS becoming involved with the family, and ultimately led to the appellant's flight from Ohio authorities (T. 1386). Judy Genetin discussed DHS' involvement with the family, and the judicial action taken as a result of Michelle's report, culminating in the appellant's standoff with Ohio authorities (T. 1366-72). Captain Zurbey discussed his involvement with negotiations with the appellant during the standoff, including the appellant's statements that he would kill anyone that tried to take his kids, and described the fortification of the appellant's home as found after the standoff (T. 1418-23). While some of this testimony may have overlapped on some details, all of these

witnesses were necessary to describe the events in Ohio leading up to the appellant's run from the law and ultimately the murder of Joel Good.

The appellant also claims that this testimony should not have been admitted because it may have unfairly prejudiced him in the penalty phase of his trial. This Court has recognized that the potential for penalty phase prejudice is not a ground for exclusion of otherwise admissible guilt phase evidence. <u>Randolph v. State</u>, 463 So. 2d 186, 189 (Fla. 1984), <u>cert. denied</u>. 473 U.S. 907 (1985). No error has been shown in this regard.

A careful review of this evidence demonstrates that the collateral testimony which was most prejudicial - the appellant's having fathered Pixie's two daughters, and his direction to Pixie to "quiet" her baby Skipper - was also the most probative. Joel Good had been very distraught over the death of his child, and this was a primary factor in Good's desire to return to Ohio (T. 1059). It was at this time that Pixie told him that the appellant was the father of her girls (T. 1059, 1067). Good confronted the appellant about the girls, and told the appellant that Good and Pixie were going to return to Ohio (T. 1067-69). The appellant told Good that he was to raise Pixie's daughters as if they were his own, and that they would never make it to Ohio; he would have them killed (T.

1068-70). According to Pixie, it **was** this knowledge in particular that got Good killed (T. 1069).

Due to the clear admissibility of the most prejudicial testimony, to the extent that any of the remaining evidence complained of could be found to have been improper, any possible error must be deemed harmless. The appellant's emotional abuse of his children in claiming to be a warlock, comparing the size of his son's penises, and taking the children to a cemetery to stand in an open grave was not simply admitted for shock value; it was all relevant to show the nature and extent of the appellant's control over his children. Should this Court determine, however, that at some point the probative value was outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, it cannot be said that this evidence of emotional abuse improperly affected the jury's verdict in light of the more prejudicial evidence that the appellant was the father of Pixie's two daughters. In terms of assessing the potential harmfulness of any possible error, the evidence must be considered in the context of the other collateral evidence properly presented. With such consideration, the harmlessness of any possible error is demonstrated. See, Bryan, 553 so. 2d at 748 (relevancy of photograph of defendant committing bank robbery with sawed-off shotgun was substantially outweighed by danger of unfair prejudice,

but error was harmless because had no effect on jury verdict); <u>state v. ' 'lio</u>, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986).

Furthermore, the appellant's argument as to the potential harmfulness of any error focuses solely on Pixie's credibility. The facts offered in support of this argument are again misleading and inaccurate. For example, the appellant asserts that "All of the witnesses, save Pixie" testified that Pixie lured Joel into the woods to be killed and that she abused Joel, that they had a bad marriage (Appellant's Initial Brief, p. 70). In fact, the only state witness that testified that about Pixie luring Joel into the woods was Mathew, who stated that Pixie told him the night of the murder that she had egged Joel into the woods (T. 1344). Of course, Pixie also allegedly told Sherry that she had stabbed Joel, which Sherry testified she later learned was not true (T. 1680). Mathew, Christopher, and Charles were the only state witnesses to testify about Pixie's abuse of Joel, and Mathew stated that Charles was the one that would instigate the abuse and take it to the next level (T. 1351, 1357). Despite some disagreement on the subjective question of the quality of Pixie's marriage<sup>4</sup> and the extent of

<sup>&#</sup>x27;Pixie herself acknowledged that she and Joel had discussed divorce at one point, after Joel had had a fight with the appellant (T. 1226).

**Pixie's** participation in Joel's abuse, none of these witnesses created the 'credibility problem" with Pixie that the appellant is so eager to have this Court determine. Pixie's credibility is only seriously in jeopardy if you totally believe Sherry, a defense witness that stated she has always hated Pixie and who was so brainwashed by the appellant that she thought his sexual exploits with her were part of a normal family life.

On these facts, the appellant has failed to establish any abuse of discretion in the trial court's admission of evidence about prior collateral crimes and other bad acts by the appellant. The trial court's conclusion that the probative value of this testimony was not substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice was correct. The evidence was clearly relevant, highly probative, limited in **scope**,<sup>5</sup> and was not made a feature of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>A review of the state's response to the motion in limine on this evidence reveals a number of other collateral crimes which were never attempted to be admitted below, such as the appellant's use of fraud to receive disability payments; his nocturnal visits to his daughters' bedrooms where the appellant would comment on the beauty of their bodies and describe precisely the acts he would like to perform on them; visits to the graveyard as a frequent occurrence (testimony at trial only related one such visit); that babysitting cousins had observed two of the boys tied to a bed in a darkened, feces infested room; the appellant's common practice of pointing knives and firearms at his wife and children; the appellant's describing to his family the many men he allegedly killed in Vietnam; his repeated warnings to his wife and children that his friend "Iceman" would

trial. Any possible error in the admission of some of the less prejudicial, less probative testimony would be harmless beyond any reasonable doubt. Therefore, the appellant is not entitled to a new trial.

kill anyone or anything that the appellant directed him to kill; reports of abuse in the house to DHS going back to 1989; and discussions the appellant had with his older sons to murder Sherry and Pixie, **as** the appellant was afraid they could not be trusted to be quiet (**R**. 352-359).

## <u>ISSUE II</u>

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THE AGGRAVATING FACTOR OF HEINOUS, ATROCIOUS, OR CRUEL.

The appellant next challenges the trial court's finding that the murder of Joel Good was heinous, atrocious or cruel. Curiously enough, a review of the record does not support the suggestion that the court actually found or applied this aggravating factor. In his sentencing order, the judge specifically enumerated three aggravating factors - prior violent felony conviction, committed to avoid arrest, and cold, calculated and premeditated. The finding of CCP states that the murder 'was especially atrocious and cruel," but this language appears to be surplusage, and there is no reason to believe that the judge found or applied HAC as a fourth aggravating factor. In fact, at the penalty phase jury instruction conference, defense counsel withdrew a proposed instruction due to understanding that the state was not seeking HAC as an his aggravator. The prosecutor agreed that HAC was not applicable under the case law (T. 1828). The prosecutor never argued the existence of that factor to the jury or the judge, and the jury was never instructed on HAC as a potential aggravator.

Even if the sentencing order could be read to suggest that the trial judge may have considered this factor, the appellant has failed to demonstrate reversible error. The manner in which Good was killed was identical to the method that the appellant taught his sons to kill law enforcement officers that might attempt to apprehend the appellant. Although the appellant suggests that it may have been Willie that decided to strangle Joel "as opposed to shooting him with the gun in the camper" (Appellant's Brief, **p**. 75), there was no evidence admitted below that there even was a gun in the camper, and in fact the only suggestion about the existence of any firearm was defense counsel's questioning of Christopher inferring that the only gun had been pawned while the family was living in New Port **Richey** (**T**. 1311-12).

This case is clearly distinguishable from <u>Omelus v. State</u>, 584 so. 2d 563 (Fla. 1991), and Williams v. State, 622 So. 2d 456 (Fla.), <u>cert. denied</u>, 510 U.S. 1000 (1993), due to the appellant's domination over his son. There was an abundance of testimony that the appellant was the one in the family that made all the decisions (T. 1034, 1045, 1269, 1322, 1374, 1610) . The appellant not only convinced Willie to kill Joel, he had trained his son to kill in the heinous manner actually employed in Joel's death.

Furthermore, given the existence of three other strong, unchallenged aggravating factors, and the scant mitigation offered below, any possible error in the case must be found harmless. <u>Peterka v. State</u>, 640 So. 2d 59, 71-72 (Fla. 1994) (doubling of avoid arrest/hindering law enforcement and improper finding of pecuniary gain harmless, since three valid aggravators remained), <u>cert. denied</u>, U.S. , 115 S. Ct. 940, 130 L. Ed. 2d 884 (1995). The appellant is clearly not entitled to relief on this issue.

## ISSUE III

# WHETHER THE APPELLANT'S SENTENCE OF DEATH IS PROPORTIONAL.

The appellant next challenges his death sentence as disproportionate. The appellant claims that Joel Good's murder was not one of the most aggravated and least mitigated murders, and asks this Court to reduce his sentence to life imprisonment. A review of the evidence in this case, however, clearly refutes this argument. Therefore, the appellant is not entitled to relief on this issue.

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